IAEA Nuclear Energy Series





IAEA NUCLEAR ENERGY SERIES PUBLICATIONS

STRUCTURE OF THE IAEA NUCLEAR ENERGY SERIES

Under the terms of Articles III.A and VIII.C of its Statute, the IAEA is authorized to foster the exchange of scientific and technical information on the peaceful uses of atomic energy. The publications in the **IAEA Nuclear Energy Series** provide information in the areas of nuclear power, nuclear fuel cycle, radioactive waste management and decommissioning, and on general issues that are relevant to all of the above mentioned areas. The structure of the IAEA Nuclear Energy Series comprises three levels: 1 - Basic Principles and Objectives; 2 - Guides; and 3 - Technical Reports.

The **Nuclear Energy Basic Principles** publication describes the rationale and vision for the peaceful uses of nuclear energy.

Nuclear Energy Series Objectives publications explain the expectations to be met in various areas at different stages of implementation.

Nuclear Energy Series Guides provide high level guidance on how to achieve the objectives related to the various topics and areas involving the peaceful uses of nuclear energy.

Nuclear Energy Series Technical Reports provide additional, more detailed, information on activities related to the various areas dealt with in the IAEA Nuclear Energy Series.

The IAEA Nuclear Energy Series publications are coded as follows: NG – general; NP – nuclear power; NF – nuclear fuel; NW – radioactive waste management and decommissioning. In addition, the publications are available in English on the IAEA's Internet site:

http://www.iaea.org/Publications/index.html

For further information, please contact the IAEA at PO Box 100, Vienna International Centre, 1400 Vienna, Austria.

All users of the IAEA Nuclear Energy Series publications are invited to inform the IAEA of experience in their use for the purpose of ensuring that they continue to meet user needs. Information may be provided via the IAEA Internet site, by post, at the address given above, or by email to Official.Mail@iaea.org.

TECHNOLOGICAL IMPLICATIONS OF INTERNATIONAL SAFEGUARDS FOR GEOLOGICAL DISPOSAL OF SPENT FUEL AND RADIOACTIVE WASTE

The following States are Members of the International Atomic Energy Agency:

AFGHANISTAN ALBANIA ALGERIA ANGOLA ARGENTINA ARMENIA AUSTRALIA AUSTRIA AZERBAIJAN BAHRAIN BANGLADESH BELARUS BELGIUM BELIZE BENIN BOLIVIA BOSNIA AND HERZEGOVINA BOTSWANA BRAZIL **BULGARIA** BURKINA FASO BURUNDI CAMBODIA CAMEROON CANADA CENTRAL AFRICAN REPUBLIC CHAD CHILE CHINA COLOMBIA CONGO COSTA RICA CÔTE D'IVOIRE CROATIA CUBA **CYPRUS** CZECH REPUBLIC DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF THE CONGO DENMARK DOMINICAN REPUBLIC **ECUADOR** EGYPT EL SALVADOR **ERITREA ESTONIA ETHIOPIA** FINLAND FRANCE GABON GEORGIA GERMANY

GHANA GREECE **GUATEMALA** HAITI HOLY SEE HONDURAS HUNGARY ICELAND INDIA **INDONESIA** IRAN, ISLAMIC REPUBLIC OF IRAQ **IRELAND** ISRAEL ITALY JAMAICA JAPAN JORDAN KAZAKHSTAN **KENYA** KOREA, REPUBLIC OF KUWAIT **KYRGYZSTAN** LATVIA LEBANON LESOTHO LIBERIA LIBYAN ARAB JAMAHIRIYA LIECHTENSTEIN LITHUANIA LUXEMBOURG MADAGASCAR MALAWI MALAYSIA MALI MALTA MARSHALL ISLANDS MAURITANIA MAURITIUS MEXICO MONACO MONGOLIA MONTENEGRO MOROCCO MOZAMBIQUE MYANMAR NAMIBIA NEPAL NETHERLANDS NEW ZEALAND NICARAGUA NIGER NIGERIA

NORWAY OMAN PAKISTAN PALAU PANAMA PARAGUAY PERU PHILIPPINES POLAND PORTUGAL QATAR REPUBLIC OF MOLDOVA ROMANIA RUSSIAN FEDERATION SAUDI ARABIA SENEGAL SERBIA SEYCHELLES SIERRA LEONE SINGAPORE **SLOVAKIA SLOVENIA** SOUTH AFRICA SPAIN SRI LANKA **SUDAN SWEDEN** SWITZERLAND SYRIAN ARAB REPUBLIC TAJIKISTAN THAILAND THE FORMER YUGOSLAV REPUBLIC OF MACEDONIA TUNISIA TURKEY UGANDA UKRAINE UNITED ARAB EMIRATES UNITED KINGDOM OF GREAT BRITAIN AND NORTHERN IRELAND UNITED REPUBLIC OF TANZANIA UNITED STATES OF AMERICA URUGUAY UZBEKISTAN VENEZUELA VIETNAM YEMEN ZAMBIA ZIMBABWE

The Agency's Statute was approved on 23 October 1956 by the Conference on the Statute of the IAEA held at United Nations Headquarters, New York; it entered into force on 29 July 1957. The Headquarters of the Agency are situated in Vienna. Its principal objective is "to accelerate and enlarge the contribution of atomic energy to peace, health and prosperity throughout the world".

IAEA NUCLEAR ENERGY SERIES No. NW-T-1.21

TECHNOLOGICAL IMPLICATIONS OF INTERNATIONAL SAFEGUARDS FOR GEOLOGICAL DISPOSAL OF SPENT FUEL AND RADIOACTIVE WASTE

INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY VIENNA, 2010

COPYRIGHT NOTICE

All IAEA scientific and technical publications are protected by the terms of the Universal Copyright Convention as adopted in 1952 (Berne) and as revised in 1972 (Paris). The copyright has since been extended by the World Intellectual Property Organization (Geneva) to include electronic and virtual intellectual property. Permission to use whole or parts of texts contained in IAEA publications in printed or electronic form must be obtained and is usually subject to royalty agreements. Proposals for non-commercial reproductions and translations are welcomed and considered on a case-by-case basis. Enquiries should be addressed to the IAEA Publishing Section at:

Marketing and Sales Unit, Publishing Section International Atomic Energy Agency Vienna International Centre PO Box 100 1400 Vienna, Austria fax: +43 1 2600 29302 tel.: +43 1 2600 22417 email: sales.publications@iaea.org http://www.iaea.org/books

> © IAEA, 2010 Printed by the IAEA in Austria February 2010 STI/PUB/1414

IAEA Library Cataloguing in Publication Data

Technological implications of international safeguards for geological disposal of spent fuel and radioactive waste. — Vienna : International Atomic Energy Agency, 2010.
p. ; 29 cm. — (IAEA nuclear energy series, ISSN 1995–7807 ; no. NW-T-1.21)
STI/PUB/1414
ISBN 978–92–0–106809–5
Includes bibliographical references.

1. Radioactive waste disposal in the ground — Safety measures. 2. Spent reactor fuels — Storage — Safety measures. I. International Atomic Energy Agency. II. Series.

FOREWORD

A number of questions arise in considering the implications of safeguarding spent fuel in its disposal phase. Since safeguards must be continued for nuclear material still considered to represent a potential target of diversion for undeclared and non-peaceful uses, the need to continue safeguards must be in harmony with plans to ensure that spent fuel is managed and disposed of in a way that ensures long term safety. A major concern from the waste management point of view is thus that the arrangements made to ensure the long term safety of spent fuel in a geological repository are harmonized with safeguards.

Interface issues between nuclear safeguards and radioactive waste management were already addressed by an IAEA Working Group on Principles and Criteria for Radioactive Waste Disposal, and published in 1996 in as IAEA-TECDOC-909. Beginning in 1988, the IAEA held a series of meetings to develop a safeguards policy with respect to the disposal of spent fuel in geological repositories. In addition, the IAEA Programme for the Development of Safeguards for the Final Disposal of Spent Fuel in Geological Repositories (SAGOR) was active from 1994 to 1998 and developed a generic comprehensive safeguards approach based on the provisions of INFCIRC/153 (i.e. traditional safeguards measures that were not yet integrated with the provisions of the additional protocol, INFCIRC/540) for geological repositories. Recognizing the progress made by some countries in the development of geological repository programmes, the IAEA continued sponsoring Experts Group Meetings of SAGOR-II from 1998 to 2005 to evaluate potential measures for implementing the traditional safeguards approach. This resulted in a number of publications in the Safeguards Technical Reports Series. Since 2005, a new Experts Group, known as the Application of Safeguards to Repositories (ASTOR), has been convened to support the application of a safeguards approach to geological repositories and to address implementation issues for specific repositories.

Building on previous work this report focuses on the technological implications of international safeguards at a generic geological repository containing spent fuel and radioactive waste during its design, construction, operation and post-operational phases. It addresses the potential technological implications for a repository operator to satisfy postulated traditional IAEA obligations (INFCIRC/153) with respect to safeguarded spent fuel, and possibly other nuclear material waste on which safeguards has not been terminated, that will be transferred to a geological repository. These implications are based on the status of knowledge, both on waste management and safeguards issues, which was available during the preparation of this report by two consultants meetings and Member State representatives of a Technical Meeting held in Vienna from 19 to 23 April 2004.

A model safeguards approach that seeks the optimal combination of traditional safeguards with State level assurances provided by the evaluation of all information available to the IAEA regarding nuclear fuel cycle activities in the State and complementary accesses to locations in the State (i.e. integrated safeguards under INFCIRC/540) are currently being developed by the IAEA. The geological repository integrated safeguards approach would become part of an approach for a specific State that takes into consideration State level and facility level factors to enhance the effectiveness and efficiency of IAEA safeguards. Any identified technical implication of the traditional safeguards approach for geological repositories used as the model for this evaluation is likely to cover the potential implications of an integrated approach for a repository.

The IAEA would like to express its thanks to all participants involved in the drafting of this report. Special thanks are due to B. Moran (USA) for his leading role in discussions during the consultants and Technical Meetings, and to I. Upshall (United Kingdom) for his contribution in finalizing this report.

The IAEA officers responsible for this report were S. Hossain and B. Neerdael of the Division of Nuclear Fuel Cycle and Waste Technology.

EDITORIAL NOTE

This report has been edited by the editorial staff of the IAEA to the extent considered necessary for the reader's assistance. It does not address questions of responsibility, legal or otherwise, for acts or omissions on the part of any person.

Although great care has been taken to maintain the accuracy of information contained in this publication, neither the IAEA nor its Member States assume any responsibility for consequences which may arise from its use.

The use of particular designations of countries or territories does not imply any judgement by the publisher, the IAEA, as to the legal status of such countries or territories, of their authorities and institutions or of the delimitation of their boundaries.

The mention of names of specific companies or products (whether or not indicated as registered) does not imply any intention to infringe proprietary rights, nor should it be construed as an endorsement or recommendation on the part of the IAEA.

CONTENTS

1.	INT	RODUCTION	1
	1.1. 1 2	Background	1 2
	13	Scope	2
	1.5.	Structure	2
	1.4.		2
2.	REÇ	UIREMENTS FOR REPOSITORY SAFETY AND IAEA SAFEGUARDS	3
	2.1.	Repository safety	3
	2.2.	IAEA safeguards.	4
3.	REP	OSITORY CONCEPTS AND PHASES	5
	3.1.	Types of waste and spent fuel	5
	3.2.	Waste/spent fuel packages	5
	3.3.	Repository concepts	6
		3.3.1. The generic repository design	7
	3.4.	Repository phases	9
		3.4.1. Pre-operational phase	9
		3.4.2. Operational phase 1	0
		3.4.3. Post-closure phase. 1	0
	3.5.	Retrievability.	1
4.	SAF	EGUARDS MEASURES FOR GEOLOGICAL DISPOSAL	11
	4.1.	Diversion scenarios.	2
	4.2.	Safeguards approach 1	2
	4.3.	Safeguards variations	3
	4.4.	General implementation of IAEA safeguards.	4
5.	TEC	HNOLOGICAL IMPLICATIONS OF SAFEGUARDS REQUIREMENTS 1	5
	5.1.	Pre-operational phase	9
	5.2.	Operational phase	9
	5.3.	Post-closure phase	20
6.	SUN	IMARY AND CONCLUSIONS. 2	20
REF	EREN	ICES	21
ANI	NEX I	TECHNOLOGICAL IMPLICATIONS OF APPLYING SAFEGUARDS MEASURES IN A GEOLOGICAL REPOSITORY BASED ON SAFEGUARDS ACTIVITIES	23
CON STR	ITRIE UCTI	BUTORS TO DRAFTING AND REVIEW	27 29

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. BACKGROUND

The IAEA has been involved in the development of geological disposal concepts for nuclear material, with a particular emphasis in the areas of safety, technology and safeguards. The issue concerning the interface between nuclear safeguards and radioactive waste management was discussed in the 1990s at meetings of a Working Group of the International Waste Management Advisory Committee (INWAC) [1]. Discussions at those meetings indicated that there may be significant implications with regard to the application of IAEA safeguards in geological repositories by the waste management community.

The IAEA has been working on various aspects of safeguards for geological repositories for about 20 years. Beginning in 1988, a series of Advisory Group and consultants meetings were held to develop a safeguards policy with respect to geological repositories [2]. At the same time, the IAEA and Germany established the first task on the development of a safeguards approach for a geological repository in a salt dome [3, 4]. In addition, the IAEA Programme for the Development of Safeguards for the Final Disposal of Spent Fuel in Geological Repositories (SAGOR), comprising eight Member State Support Programmes, the European Commission, and the IAEA, was active from 1994 to 1998 [5]. A generic safeguards approach based on the provisions of INFCIRC/153 (i.e. traditional safeguards that were <u>not</u> yet integrated with the provisions of the additional protocol, INFCIRC/540) developed by SAGOR was recommended to the IAEA at the 1997 Advisory Group Meeting [6]. When not otherwise specified, the safeguards measures evaluated in this report are based on measures identified for possible use within this traditional safeguards approach.

Recognizing the progress made by some countries in the development of geological repository programmes, the IAEA shifted its focus from generic approaches to site specific facilities. From 1998 to 2005, IAEA Experts Group meetings of SAGOR-II evaluated potential measures for implementing the traditional safeguards approach. This resulted in the issuance of a number of publications in the Safeguards Technical Reports Series. Since 2005, a new Experts Group, named Application of Safeguards to Repositories (ASTOR), has been meeting to support the application of safeguards to geological repositories and to address implementation issues for specific repositories.

A model safeguards approach that seeks the optimal combination of traditional safeguards with the State level assurances provided by the evaluation of all information available to the IAEA regarding nuclear fuel cycle activities in the State and complementary accesses to locations in the State (i.e. integrated safeguards under INFCIRC/540) are currently being developed by the IAEA. The geological repository integrated safeguards approach would become a part of the State level approach for a specific State that takes into consideration State level and facility level factors to enhance the effectiveness and efficiency of IAEA safeguards. As the safeguards measures contained in a facility specific traditional safeguards approach are likely to be more intensively implemented than the measures required under an integrated safeguards approach, any identified technological implications of the generic traditional safeguards approach for geological repositories will cover the potential implications of an integrated approach on a repository.

The IAEA has published, under its Safety Standards Series, Safety Requirements that could be used by countries in the development of their own geological disposal programmes [7]. To be licensed, constructed and operated, a geological repository will require that a safety case¹ and supporting safety assessments be prepared and regularly updated by the operator. As the facility evolves, the safety case will be updated as a continuous process and will be sufficiently detailed and comprehensive to provide sufficient technical input to regulatory and other decisions. According to the Safety Requirements, it is expected that a geological repository will be licensed by a country's regulatory authority only after a satisfactory safety case has been accepted by the relevant national authorities.

¹ A safety case is a collection of arguments, at a given stage of repository development, in support of the long term safety of the repository. A safety case comprises the findings of a safety assessment and a statement of confidence in these findings. It should acknowledge the existence of any unresolved issues and provide guidance for work to resolve these issues in future development stages. (See OECD NUCLEAR ENERGY AGENCY, Radioactive Waste Management, Confidence in the Long-term Safety of Deep Geological Repositories, its Development and Communication, OECD, Paris (1999).)

A geological repository that would accept safeguarded nuclear material could be managed under an appropriate safeguards regime as long as a safeguards agreement exists between the State/regional safeguards authority and the IAEA. Since this safeguards agreement is likely to remain in force for a long period of time, the impacts of meeting facility specific obligations have received significant attention from the safeguards community, which also recognizes the need to minimize the burden on future generations while maintaining the long term safety of the repository.

It is generally accepted that safe evolution of a geological repository must not be reliant on continuing, active, institutional control even after its closure. However, the requirement to apply IAEA safeguards could, as long as the IAEA's safeguards agreement with the State/regional authority remains in force, necessitate a long term inspection regime which might call for specific measures, as far as feasible and agreed.

1.2. OBJECTIVE

The objective of this report is to contribute towards preliminary clarification of potential technological implications of implementing international safeguards measures at a generic geological repository containing spent nuclear fuel, unirradiated nuclear material waste, and other radiological waste during the design, construction, operation and post-operational phases.

1.3. SCOPE

This report addresses the potential technological implications to a repository operator of the expected IAEA obligations with respect to safeguarded spent fuel and other nuclear material that will be transferred to a geological repository. These implications are based on the status of knowledge, both on waste management and safeguards issues, which were available to the experts during the preparation of this report. All phases of the repository lifetime are considered, from conception and design through to post-operational oversight.

A generic geological repository is designed for the disposal of high level waste (HLW), spent fuel for which no further use is foreseen, and other long lived radioactive waste material including unirradiated uranium, thorium and plutonium bearing material. Out of this material, only spent nuclear fuel and unirradiated uranium, thorium and plutonium bearing materials are subject to safeguards (see Section 4.3). The rest of the waste material in the repository, e.g. vitrified HLW and other long lived low and intermediate level waste (LILW), as mentioned in Section 4.3, will not be subject to safeguards verification but could affect safeguards implementation.

The potential impact of the applied technical measures on the safe operation of the facility is especially considered. Domestic requirements for the physical security of the geological repository and for nuclear material control and accountability are not considered here as they may be different from those demanded by the application of IAEA safeguards.

1.4. STRUCTURE

Following this introduction, specific aspects of the technological implications of safeguards considerations in the different phases of the life cycle of a generic geological repository are discussed. Section 2 summarizes the basic principles of both repository safety, and IAEA safeguards. In Section 3, the design of the generic geological repository is described, with a focus on the features likely to be relevant when meeting safeguards obligations. Section 4 describes the safeguards considerations and associated measures that are expected to be relevant during the lifetime of a repository. Section 5 highlights the technological implications expected to result in applying safeguards to the disposal facilities. Finally, in Section 6 some concluding remarks are presented. The conclusions indicate to the waste management community at large how safeguards considerations could be met effectively within the constraints of safety and acceptable performance.

2. REQUIREMENTS FOR REPOSITORY SAFETY AND IAEA SAFEGUARDS

A generally accepted principle relating to the long term safety of radioactive waste/spent fuel present in a geological repository is that the isolation systems should be passive in nature and that an active monitoring programme should be unnecessary. This has been interpreted "as (p)ost-closure safety...(being) provided by means of engineered and geological barriers,.... (not relying) on monitoring or institutional controls after the facility has been closed" [7]. This principle has been recognized and accepted within the nuclear safety and safeguards community with regard to the disposal of spent nuclear fuel. In accordance with the legal basis of the application of IAEA safeguards for repositories containing spent fuel and other nuclear material bearing waste on which safeguards have not been terminated, there remains an obligation to establish and implement a safeguards regime that is capable of detecting the possible diversion of nuclear material for use in nuclear weapons production.

2.1. REPOSITORY SAFETY

The national obligation to control and manage radioactive waste/spent fuel safely is clearly recognized and formalized in the terms of the Joint Convention on the Safety of Spent Fuel Management and on the Safety of Radioactive Waste Management [8]. The IAEA has been independently developing safety requirements for geological repositories to ensure that people and the environment are protected from the effects of exposure to ionizing radiation, both now and in the future [7]. The requirements for the disposal of radioactive waste/spent fuel in a geological repository cover both operational and post-closure safety and are based on nine basic principles. These are stated in the IAEA publication Principles of Radioactive Waste Management [9] and are consistent with the International Basic Safety Standards for Protection against Ionizing Radiation and for the Safety of Radioactive Sources [10].

The safety requirements for the disposal of radioactive waste/spent fuel in a geological repository are concerned with safeguards only from the point of view of the impacts that safeguards specific measures could have upon overall repository safety — both during the operational and post-operational phases. Requirements with respect to nuclear safeguards state:

"Nuclear safeguards requirements shall be considered in the design and operation of a geological disposal facility to which nuclear safeguards apply, and shall be implemented in such a way as not to compromise the safety of a geological disposal facility." [7]

The safety functions, and in turn the safety case for a geological repository, do not rely upon safeguards measures. However, the latter may occasionally contribute to safety in some aspects of repository performance. In view of the very long time frames involved, international consensus is that safety must be provided by a combination of passive natural and engineered barriers. Any aspects featured in the design or operation of the repository necessary to provide safeguards assurance must be considered in this assessment process.

Geological repositories are likely to be developed over a period of several decades. Before the start of construction, the repository design and operations must be sufficiently understood to support a safety case that is capable of satisfying the applicable national regulatory requirements. The development of the safety case will require the operator to clearly define the characteristics of the waste/spent fuel that is to be managed within the repository. These so called 'waste acceptance criteria' (WAC) are considered part of the repository assessment and licensing process and will generally specify radionuclide or radioactivity limits, heat output, waste matrix, conditioning, encapsulation requirements and waste container properties. Additional criteria might be required for specific reasons; for example, in case of nuclear material subject to safeguards, specifications concerning the identification of waste/spent fuel packages and means for detecting undeclared opening of packages (e.g. safeguards seals).

2.2. IAEA SAFEGUARDS

The Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons [11] prescribes that signatory States declare the quantities and location of *source or special fissionable material*² in all peaceful nuclear activities within their territory, under their jurisdiction or carried out under their control anywhere. In addition, the signatory State must allow the IAEA to verify the correctness and completeness of these declarations. The State is to make declarations on all nuclear material (except for those whose quantity is such that they have been exempted from safeguards or for those for which safeguards has been terminated). Safeguards inspections are conducted at locations in a State where nuclear material is declared to be present. It follows, therefore, that the IAEA will implement safeguards measures where nuclear material is placed in a geological repository.

The statutory obligation for the IAEA to conduct safeguards inspections at facilities in non-nuclear weapon States possessing or using thorium, uranium, or plutonium bearing nuclear materials is established by the INFCIRC/153 type safeguards agreement [12] concluded between the IAEA and the signatory State or regional safeguards authority pursuant to the NPT. Articles 1 and 4 of INFCIRC/153 state, respectively:

"The Agreement should contain...an undertaking by the State to accept safeguards...on all source or special fissionable material in all peaceful nuclear activities within its territory...for the exclusive purpose of verifying that such material is not diverted to nuclear weapons or other nuclear explosive devices."

and

"The agreement shall be implemented in a manner designed:

- (a) To avoid hampering the economic and technological development...of peaceful nuclear activities....
- (b) To avoid undue interference in the State's peaceful nuclear activities, and in particular the operation of facilities;
- (c) To be consistent with prudent management practices required for the economical and safe conduct of nuclear activities."

Countries, from 1997 onwards, began concluding a protocol additional to their safeguards agreements with the IAEA (i.e. additional protocol) that follows the provisions of the Model Additional Protocol (given in INFCIRC/540) [13]. The additional protocol gives the IAEA the means to provide credible assurance to the international community of the absence of undeclared nuclear material, facilities, or activities in the signatory State. Under the additional protocol, a signatory State provides additional information about its nuclear programme and related activities and also provides the IAEA with access to locations involved in these activities. The term 'relevant information' can include descriptions of buildings on sites with nuclear facilities and locations of high and intermediate level waste on which safeguards have been terminated. As mentioned in the Introduction, facility specific approaches integrating traditional safeguards and information analysis, and complementary accesses to locations have yet to be developed. However, because a facility specific integrated safeguards approach is likely to be less intensive than a traditional safeguards approach, this evaluation considered only the measures that have been identified for possible use in a traditional safeguards approach.

In summary, the more general objectives of integrated IAEA safeguards [14] are:

"...to verify a State's compliance with its undertaking to accept safeguards on all nuclear material in all its peaceful nuclear activities and to verify that such material is not diverted to nuclear weapons or other nuclear explosive devices...the detection of undeclared nuclear material and activities in a State."

An IAEA Safeguards Policy Series publication provides guidance for the planning of safeguards measures where it is intended to dispose of spent fuel in geological repositories.

² Thorium, uranium, or plutonium bearing nuclear material.

The Advisory Group Meeting on Safeguards Related to Final Disposal of Nuclear Material in Waste and Spent Fuel (AGM-660), held in September 1988 [2], recommended the adoption of the following policy statement:

"Spent fuel disposed in geological repositories is subject to safeguards in accordance with the applicable safeguards agreement. Safeguards for such material are maintained after the repository has been back-filled and sealed, and for as long as the safeguards agreement remains in force. The safeguards applied should provide a credible assurance of non-diversion."

While it has accumulated significant experience in the implementation of traditional safeguards on existing types of nuclear facilities, the IAEA has no direct experience relating to the implementation of safeguards in geological repositories.

3. REPOSITORY CONCEPTS AND PHASES

3.1. TYPES OF WASTE AND SPENT FUEL

The types of waste/spent fuel requiring long term isolation from the biosphere, and therefore destined for eventual emplacement in geological repositories, are:

- High level waste is defined by the IAEA [15, 16] as: The radioactive liquid containing most of the fission products and actinides present in spent fuel which forms the residue from the first solvent extraction cycle in reprocessing and some of the associated waste streams; this material following solidification; spent fuel (if declared as waste); or any other waste with similar radiological characteristics. Typical characteristics of HLW are thermal power above about 2 kW/m³ and long lived radionuclide concentrations exceeding the limitations for short lived waste.
- Long lived, LILW is defined [15, 16] as: Radioactive waste with radiological characteristics between those of exempt waste and HLW. Typical characteristics of LILW are activity levels above clearance levels and thermal power below about 2 kW/m³.

In addition the content of long lived radionuclides must be above the level established on the basis of the waste acceptance criteria for near surface disposal.

According to the indications in the IAEA classification of radioactive waste [16] and to the strategy adopted by a large number of countries, the use of the geological repository concept is the preferred disposal option for high activity and/or 'long lived' radioactive waste, including spent fuel. ('Long lived' is used where the waste contains sufficient quantities of radioactive materials with half-lives of such a period that they will not become sufficiently harmless within the established period of institutional controls.) Wastes containing radioactive materials decaying to sufficiently low levels of activity within the institutional control period are considered as 'short lived' and are generally taken to be acceptable for near surface disposal. However, some countries have decided to use a more conservative approach by not making this distinction and are thus planning to place all types of radioactive waste in geological repositories.

Depending on the nuclear material content of the waste/spent fuel, IAEA safeguards could be applied to both short and long lived materials including spent nuclear fuel.

3.2. WASTE/SPENT FUEL PACKAGES

The design and operating philosophy of the repository will be dictated, to a certain extent, by the waste/spent fuel packaging arrangements. In broad terms, the package will typically comprise three components: the

waste/spent fuel itself, the encapsulation media, and the container. Consideration will be given to the WAC when establishing the design and subsequent production of the package. The following paragraphs describe some of the important features of each of the three components of the package.

The waste/spent fuel may also be mixed with a suitable conditioning material and its characteristics will be wide ranging. In a State with the full range of nuclear fuel cycle activities these could include radioisotope sources, contaminated materials, manufacturing and processing waste, decommissioning waste, spent fuel reprocessing waste and unreprocessed spent fuel. The waste may be in either solid or liquid form prior to its conditioning for disposal and are also likely to contain non-radioactive toxic substances. Some waste materials may be excluded, however, if they cannot be shown to be safe in the environment of the disposal facility (for example, organic materials and pressurized containers).

Normally, the WAC will require that the 'raw' waste is immobilized to delay the transfer of any long lived radionuclides to the surrounding environment, when the primary containment of the waste package eventually fails (either through unforeseen events or through natural degradation). Most countries have opted for the use of either a cement or bitumen based immobilization matrix for LILW, while liquid HLW generally will be vitrified. The raw waste may comprise finely divided particulates (for example, plutonium contaminated material — PCM — or discrete items such as fuel assemblies).

Container types will vary according to the physical, chemical and radiological characteristics of the waste/spent fuel. For HLW and spent fuel, the container is generally constructed from a combination of metals.³ For LILW, the container may be manufactured from stainless steel or concrete (sometimes with a steel liner). The dimensions of the container and the quantity of materials used will be dictated by physical limitations such as the weight that can be safely transported and handled.

It is expected that the radionuclide content of the raw material would be determined prior to the preparation of their package for disposal. Each waste/spent fuel package will be uniquely identified in order to record its location and movement.

3.3. REPOSITORY CONCEPTS

For the purpose of this report, it is assumed that the geological repository in which safeguards will be applied is a purpose built facility and is based on the reference repository design described in this section.

Many repository concept designs are possible and, in fact, different options have been considered by various countries. The majority of geological repositories currently planned are based on a series of deep excavated vaults at depths of several hundreds of metres. Alternative geological disposal systems have been considered by some countries, for example, repositories consisting of a matrix of deep boreholes drilled either from the surface or from an underground facility. However, the concept of a repository involving deep borehole emplacement of waste from the surface has not been developed in comparable detail as with the concept of a more conventional deep geological repository comprising a series of excavated vaults, or disposal galleries, access tunnels to the vaults, access and ventilation shafts, access ramps or drifts and surface facilities. As a consequence, the application of safeguards to other concepts such as deep borehole facilities is not considered further here.

The development of the actual design for a deep repository shall be based on established procedures and on a comprehensive set of site specific data. There is agreement in current programmes that geological disposal facilities will be developed in a series of steps, each supported, as necessary, by iterative evaluation of site characteristics, design options, management procedures and the safety case, on the basis of progressively updated performance and safety assessments.

³ In some national disposal programmes, spent fuel containers are expected to be made out of cast iron or stainless steel and, additionally, may have either copper or titanium cladding.

3.3.1. The generic repository design

General description

For the purpose of describing the safeguards application, it is helpful to briefly describe the layout and key features of the generic repository that is capable of accepting HLW, spent fuel, and LILW, as described in Ref. [17]. The work that led to the design of this generic repository was commissioned by EURATOM and undertaken by a consortium of European waste management agencies with support from various licensing authorities. In practice, however, the repository design will vary according to the particular site constraints, preferences of the State, material inventory, heat output, etc.

The generic repository comprises surface facilities for receiving, handling and temporary storage of packages, as well as those necessary for ongoing construction. The underground facilities comprise the transfer infrastructure, emplacement areas for the waste/spent fuel packages and openings for disposal of LILW. The design basis assumes that the facility will accommodate HLW, spent uranium oxide and mixed oxide fuel, and/or LILW.

The surface facilities are connected to the underground disposal area by means of four access routes: the waste/spent fuel access ramp, the service shaft and two ventilation shafts.

The general layout of a typical repository is shown in Fig. 1 (taken from Ref. [17]). The remainder of this section briefly describes features of the repository that are likely to be of relevance when discussing the application of safeguards.

Surface facilities

The surface facilities of the repository site have been designed to receive spent fuel, vitrified HLW and LILW. The surface facilities comprise all above ground installations necessary for receiving, treating and handling the different waste streams as well as the equipment required to operate the underground repository. The waste/spent fuel will be shipped to the repository site in transport casks either by road, boat or rail or a combination thereof. The HLW canisters and spent fuel assemblies are unloaded from transport casks, transferred to an encapsulation plant and placed in a package and loaded into shielding overpacks, which are subsequently transferred to the emplacement area via a sloping ramp. LILW in drums is received on-site in transport containers that are unloaded in the reception building and placed into overpacks prior to transfer to LILW disposal areas.

Access to underground facilities

The generic repository design considers two types of connections between the surface and the underground facility: access ramp or shafts. The access ramp and the service shaft are located close to each other inside the surface facilities and at some distance from the emplacement areas. The final location of the ventilation shafts will depend on the layout of the emplacement area.

The access ramp is constructed in such a way as to permit the safe transfer of the packages from the surface to the emplacement level.

The service shaft provides access for personnel and materials and serves as an air intake for the underground areas. It is equipped with two hoisting systems, one for transportation of workers and heavy materials and a smaller cage for emergency purposes and shaft maintenance activities. The service shaft contains the main ventilation ducts as well as other supply systems that could include electrical distribution, monitoring and drainage systems.

The ventilation shafts are located at the far end of the emplacement area. Within the generic design, these shafts could be located some distance away from the surface facilities and therefore require special protection and surveillance. The shafts are not equipped with any form of hoist equipment, except for an auxiliary personnel cage for emergency escape. A rescue chamber is provided near each ventilation shaft at the emplacement level.

Underground facilities

The underground facilities comprise the central area, main galleries and emplacement areas.



FIG. 1. General layout of a geological repository.

The central area is large enough to accommodate installations and equipment for performing conventional underground construction activities and for the receipt and transfer of the packages.

The central area is connected with the disposal areas by means of two access drifts (main galleries). These are designed to allow for two traffic lanes and give ample space for underground construction and emplacement devices.

The emplacement area consists of one area for HLW and spent fuel and another for LILW. These two areas are physically separated to avoid any undesirable interaction between them but are both accessed from the main galleries. The LILW area consists of two drum silos located near the sloping ramp. The area for HLW and spent fuel comprises two emplacement panels with emplacement fields and drifts.

Emplacement process for packages

Two different emplacement methods are foreseen:

- HLW and spent fuel disposed of in packages centrally emplaced in the emplacement drifts and surrounded by compacted bentonite blocks;
- Drummed LILW disposed of in cylindrical openings (silos).

The generic design proposes that the packages containing HLW or spent fuel be transported from the surface to the underground through a sloping ramp by means of an underground transport vehicle. At the entrance to the emplacement drift the packages are removed from the transport vehicle to a track-bound transport system equipped with equipment for transfer of the package to its final emplacement location.

The overpacked LILW is unloaded from the transport vehicle by means of an overhead crane and moved to an inlet cell where the overpack is opened. The drummed waste is unloaded and transferred to the disposal silo. The empty overpack is returned to the surface.

3.4. REPOSITORY PHASES

A number of steps for the development of a geological repository can be identified. From a safeguards perspective, these steps have been grouped to form three basic phases:

- Pre-operational phase;
- Operational phase;
- Post-closure phase.

3.4.1. Pre-operational phase

During the pre-operational phase, the following main activities in the repository development are carried out:

- Site characterization;
- Underground exploration and access construction;
- Construction of the repository.

It should be noted that in most countries, generic site characterization activities (including underground exploration) take place before selection of a specific candidate site for the repository. At these sites, licensing activities may be limited to the performance of preliminary site investigations. After selection of a specific site for construction of the repository, a new site license will be required and the beginning of the pre-operational phase may be assumed to take place.

Site characterization from the surface is used both to distinguish between different potential sites and to characterize, in detail, the candidate repository site. The objectives of this work are to establish the baseline information for the site, to provide a comprehensive understanding of the nature and properties of the geological and surface environments and to support the safety case and the basic repository system design. Site

characterization work, at least for sites seriously considered as potential candidates, will include drilling of exploratory boreholes. Some of the in situ monitoring techniques may be useful for safeguards purposes. Therefore, the synergy of various monitoring programmes should be considered.

Construction of a geological repository (or in some countries, of an exploratory facility) starts with the excavation of access shafts or ramps and the preliminary layout of access galleries. Reconnaissance and investigation work at this stage will supplement site characterization information acquired during the surface exploration.

In some programmes, it is envisaged that construction of the main repository might be preceded by a pilot stage during which demonstrations of technology can be made to enhance confidence in the concept. Construction may be carried out as part of a single construction campaign, or be a progressive programme, with waste/spent fuel packages being emplaced before some regions of the repository are constructed.

3.4.2. Operational phase

The operational phase starts with the commissioning of the repository system and/or receipt of the first package. Activities undertaken during this phase may vary according to the country's policy and licensing procedures. However, for the purpose of this report the activities carried out during the operational phase might include:

- Construction of additional drifts;
- Receipt of packages;
- Emplacement of packages and installation of engineered barriers;
- Backfilling of disposal drifts and vaults;
- Repository backfilling and sealing (repository closure).

The main activity in the operational phase is the emplacement of the waste/spent fuel packages within their surrounding engineered barriers. There are different options for the time at which these various barriers may be put in place, depending on waste and rock characteristics. National requirements for spent fuel retrievability may have a significant influence on the methodology and timing of the activities foreseen by the disposal options chosen. Construction of the repository may proceed in some cases in parallel with waste/spent fuel emplacement.

The time of backfilling of emplacement drifts where disposal has been completed will depend not only on decisions on retrievability, but also on constraints dictated by the properties of the host rock. Backfilling could occur concurrently with continued construction or disposal activities in other drifts. This may allow disposal drifts, after package emplacement, to be directly backfilled, when appropriate, to isolate individual emplacement drifts or vaults.

Backfilling and sealing of all remaining underground areas, including all access routes, are the final actions of the operational phase of a repository. The decision to close the repository will depend on a number of factors including national policy, technical considerations, societal choices and the impact on safety of keeping the repository open.

3.4.3. Post-closure phase

The post-closure phase will begin when the repository access ways have been sealed. Some countries may choose to begin the post-closure phase with a period of institutional control. It is a principle of geological disposal that the long term safety of the repository does not require post-closure monitoring or other institutional control. It is, however, possible, and in some countries required, that some form of institutional control be maintained for an undefined period of time for societal or other reasons. It is obvious that the need to meet safeguards obligations may be one of these reasons.

3.5. RETRIEVABILITY

The disposal programmes of some countries require that the repository design and operational regime provide the ability to monitor the evolution of the facility including waste/spent fuel packages and, if necessary, to retrieve packages from the facility. Retrievability might be provided to allow the possibility of adopting different waste management options in the future such as different disposal routes or recovery of certain materials from the spent fuel. In this case monitoring could play a role in deciding whether and how the packages might be retrieved [18–20].

Detection of unforeseen repository behaviour at an early stage might require prompt remedial action (up to and including retrieval) before radioactive material can migrate to the geosphere and, eventually, the accessible environment.

In some States, the capability to retrieve may need to be demonstrated by suitable demonstration activities. To confirm that packages will be accessible and be able to be handled, retrieval related equipment may have to be developed, installed, and maintained in operational conditions. Such requirements might form part of the maintenance schedule of the facility that would be agreed with the regulators. Inspection of the waste/spent fuel emplacement and retrieval systems would provide ongoing confirmation that reversal of the emplacement of these packages and other near field barriers remains an option. Such inspection would only be meaningful while the repository remained open.

The ability of the facility to reverse the package emplacement system and more specifically to recover waste or spent fuel packages can potentially raise additional issues from the perspective of safety and safeguards. Retrievability can be provided in different ways, such as:

- After emplacement of the packages in the disposal locations, all foreseen engineered barriers are emplaced; however they are designed and built with feasibility of removal as a required feature.
- After emplacement of the packages, only part of the engineered barriers are emplaced. For example, the disposal rooms might be backfilled and sealed, while the access tunnels and connections of the underground openings with the surface could be left open.
- After emplacement of the packages, no engineered barriers, with the exception of the near field buffer, are emplaced until such time when the decision to close the repository is taken.

Regardless of the reasons to include retrievability with a partially or totally open repository in the disposal strategy, comprehensive evaluations of the potential implications of such decision on short and long term safety and on safeguards would appear to be required.

4. SAFEGUARDS MEASURES FOR GEOLOGICAL DISPOSAL

The starting point for the development of a safeguards approach for a specific facility is the identification of the credible means for diverting the nuclear material from its declared location or use. In terms of IAEA safeguards, 'diversion' relates to the undeclared transfer of nuclear materials for the possible production of nuclear weapons or other nuclear explosive devices.

The safeguards applied should provide a credible assurance of non-diversion and of the absence of undeclared safeguards relevant activities [12]. In the countries where the measures of the additional protocol [13] are implemented, the safeguards should also enhance the possibility of detecting related undeclared nuclear material and activities in the State.

The design of a geological repository should take into account, among other things:

- The risk from natural processes acting over long periods of time. The design has to limit the release of radioactive material resulting from those processes under the limits prescribed by the safety standards.
- Safeguards requirements. Those requirements are based on diversion scenarios.

4.1. DIVERSION SCENARIOS

The objective of the diversion of nuclear material, as defined by the IAEA, is to obtain sufficient nuclear material to construct at least one nuclear explosive device. Taking into consideration the conversion processes involved, the quantity of nuclear material required is taken to be 8 kg of plutonium or ²³³U, 25 kg of ²³⁵U contained in high enriched uranium (HEU) (20% enriched or more in ²³⁵U), 75 kg of ²³⁵U contained in low enriched uranium (LEU) (less than 20% enriched in ²³⁵U), 10 t of natural uranium, or 20 t of depleted uranium or thorium. The credible diversion paths for a geological repository will be determined by its specific design. Generic diversion paths for geological repositories were documented by the IAEA Programme for the Development of Safeguards for the Final Disposal of Spent Fuel in Geological Repositories (SAGOR) [5]. These diversion paths include direct substitution of an empty disposal container at the surface, retrieval of a spent fuel package from underground, opening of spent fuel packages underground followed by removal of spent fuel assemblies or pins and their transport to the surface, and removal of spent fuel from the spent fuel packages for reprocessing underground. These pathways include removal of the nuclear material through the service shaft or ramp, through vent shafts, or any other openings extending from the repository to the surface. The diversion paths also include clandestine tunnels excavated into the repository or out from the repository to the surface or to a nearby tunnel system. If waste containing non-irradiated material of safeguards interest is also disposed of in the geological repository, similar diversion paths would be relevant.

4.2. SAFEGUARDS APPROACH

The primary objective of IAEA safeguards is to detect the diversion of nuclear material from the time the spent fuel and/or any other type of safeguarded nuclear material is shipped to the repository. To ensure that the site specific safeguards approach is effective, the IAEA needs to begin consultations with the repository developer and with the national or regional authorities in advance of the start of construction of the repository. These consultations will include design information examination and may establish knowledge of baseline environmental and geological parameters associated with the undisturbed repository site. From this information, safeguards measures and equipment types will be determined.

During construction, design information verification (DIV) would be used to verify the declared design of the repository. To accomplish this, the IAEA may undertake inspection and monitoring activities to assure itself of the absence of undeclared chambers or tunnels, and to identify undeclared equipment (for example, hot cells for opening spent fuel packages or equipment for reprocessing of spent fuel). DIV in this instance might employ a range of techniques to verify declared and detect undeclared excavation activities. Geophysical techniques and satellite imagery, in so far as these techniques are technically feasible and effective, could be implemented during the repository pre-operational and operational phase to verify declared excavation activities.

When the repository enters the operational phase, the spent fuel will arrive on-site in packages that may be 'safeguards sealed', to maintain continuity of knowledge, by the IAEA with mechanical, optical or electronic devices, and/or by the use of controlled welds to indicate access to the nuclear material in the spent fuel packages. Knowledge of the contents of each package will be maintained through the use of material accounting techniques (for example, verification of the number of packages and their identification numbers or information on nuclear material content) supported by a reliable and comprehensive containment and surveillance (C/S) system above ground to verify the continued integrity and movements of the spent fuel packages and to maintain continuity of knowledge on them. The C/S measures may include visual observation, camera surveillance, safeguards seals, radiation (neutron and gamma ray) monitors and motion detectors. A system of radiation monitors and surveillance cameras is expected to be used to verify declared transfers of spent fuel casks from the surface buildings to the underground facility. These monitors and cameras would likely be located at the entrance to the transport shaft or ramp.

Once nuclear material is underground, all openings that could potentially be used for the undeclared removal of nuclear material from the underground facility should be monitored. For operational reasons, frequent movements of personnel, equipment, transport vehicles, and excavation spoils from the repository will occur. At openings, where containment structures exist (for example, fan housings), seals could be used to provide assurance that nuclear materials could not be removed undetected through the opening. At openings having no safeguards seal

and where radioactive material should not be present, radiation detectors and surveillance might be used. At the transport shaft or tunnel, the radiation monitors could be designed to determine the direction of movement of the nuclear material. The design of the monitoring equipment will be location specific to ensure effectiveness and to minimize impacts on repository operations.

Design information verification will be the primary safeguards measure for the underground space of the operating repository facility. DIV will also continue to be used to verify the declared design of the surface buildings. The 'as built' information and declared operations in the above ground and underground areas of the repository will be subject to safeguards inspections. In addition, environmental sampling [4] and air monitoring could be applied to detect fission products or other radioactive isotopes released during opening of spent fuel packages or reprocessing of spent fuel.

After backfilling of all drifts, tunnels, shafts, and boreholes and removal of the surface facilities, the safeguards measures will be reduced to those measures that give assurance that no intrusion to the repository occurs that could result in the retrieval of nuclear material. The application of geophysical (for example, passive seismic) methods and satellite imagery techniques may continue.

It should be noted that to be successful, the safeguards approach will have to be site specific. Liaison between the operator, State (and/or regional safeguards authority) and the IAEA will be a prerequisite in order to implement an effective safeguards system that also meets the safety goals of the repository. The safeguards measures applied will change throughout the lifetime of the repository (construction, operation, and post-closure) because of changes in safeguards relevant activities and evolving safeguards technologies.

4.3. SAFEGUARDS VARIATIONS

The safeguards approach will need to address site specific design and operating factors or variations. Most of these variations will not affect the basic safeguards approach concepts but could affect the design and installation of the safeguards equipment. Where it is not possible for the IAEA to detect the removal of nuclear material at the surface openings of a repository, it may be necessary to implement additional monitoring activities underground. An example of such a removal may be the repeated removal of small quantities of non-irradiated safeguarded material through an access ramp opening.

For safeguards design purposes, waste/spent fuel types have been categorized as safeguarded and non-safeguarded. Safeguarded includes:

- Power reactor and research reactor (including zero power reactor spent fuel) spent fuel for which no further use is foreseen;
- Wastes containing unirradiated uranium, thorium, plutonium, and other materials of safeguards concern.

Non-safeguarded includes:

- Vitrified HLW on which safeguards was terminated;
- Irradiated reactor and fuel components;
- Other highly radioactive or long lived radioactive wastes (not containing nuclear material).

The waste/spent fuel types identified as safeguarded will be received at the repository under IAEA safeguards. The remaining waste types are either not subject to safeguards or will have had IAEA safeguards terminated at the generating facility. Table 1 presents a summary of the issues associated with each waste/spent fuel type.

Although the last three waste types are not subject to safeguards, they are of concern to the safeguards design because their radiation emissions could be similar to those from the safeguarded material. As these wastes will be identified by the radiation detectors at the waste transfer shaft or tunnel entrance, special procedures will be required to differentiate between those packages subject and not subject to safeguards and to ensure that packages not subject to safeguards are not used to camouflage the diversion of safeguarded material. The

Waste/spent fuel type	Characteristics	Radiation level	Safeguards applicability	Comments
Power reactor spent fuel (irradiated LEU and MOX).	Irradiated LEU fuel pellets contained in Zr cladding assembled into assemblies or consolidated into spent fuel packages.	High gamma and neutron emissions.	Not subject to termination of safeguards after emplacement.	Safeguards measures defined by generic IAEA safeguards approach.
Research reactor spent fuel (irradiated HEU and LEU).	Cores from research reactors and critical assemblies in various forms and configurations.	Low to high gamma emissions.	Not subject to termination of safeguards after emplacement.	Safeguards measures defined by generic IAEA safeguards approach.
Unirradiated U, Th and Pu bearing waste.	Various process wastes and scrap from nuclear fuel cycle manufacturing activities.	Low gamma and neutron emissions.	Subject to termination of safeguards only in very low concentrations and quantities.	Safeguards measures derived from generic IAEA safeguards approach for spent fuel.
Vitrified high level waste.	Fission products and transuranic activation products resulting from reprocessing activities.	High gamma and neutron emissions.	Termination of safeguards expected at reprocessing facility before shipment to repository.	Radiation levels similar to those of power reactor spent fuel.
Irradiated reactor and fuel components.	Fuel assembly skeletons and end caps, control rods and guide tubes, leached hulls, internal reactor components.	Low to high gamma emissions.	Not subject to safeguards.	Radiation levels may be similar to those of power and research reactor spent fuel.
Other highly radioactive or long lived radioactive waste (non-U, Th or Pu bearing).	Various wastes from industrial and medical uses of radioactive materials.	Variable gamma and neutron emissions.	Not subject to safeguards.	Radiation levels may be similar to those of power and research reactor spent fuel.

TABLE I. RADIOACTIVE WASTE/SPENT FUEL SUBJECT TO GEOLOGICAL DISPOSA	TABLE 1.	RADIOACTIVE	WASTE/SPENT FUEL	SUBJECT TO	GEOLOGICAL	DISPOSAI
---	----------	-------------	------------------	------------	------------	----------

repository operator, the national or regional authority, and the IAEA will need to consult to develop appropriate procedures.

The wastes containing separated plutonium will be subject to safeguards and will be subject to more intensive verification procedures than spent fuel. However, the radiation level emitted by plutonium may be too low for effective detection by radiation sensors at the openings. From the viewpoint of safeguards implementation, these materials would likely need to be segregated within particular sections of the facility and be subjected to similar IAEA safeguards measures as were applied to it above ground, until the drift in which it is emplaced is backfilled and sealed.

It is conceivable that on rare occasions waste/spent fuel packages might need to be returned to the surface from the underground facility. The operator or the national or regional authority would be required to inform the IAEA in advance of any activity to remove a radioactive package from the underground facility.

This notification should be made sufficiently in advance of the removal to permit the IAEA to be present and to verify the removal of the item.

4.4. GENERAL IMPLEMENTATION OF IAEA SAFEGUARDS

IAEA activities during the pre-operational phase establish the bases on which safeguards will be conducted during the operational phase. Thus, a high level of cooperation and sharing of information among the IAEA, the facility operator, and the national or regional authority is required to ensure that the subsequent IAEA safeguards

activities and measures will be effective, will minimize impacts on the facility, and will be acceptable to both the IAEA and the national or regional authority. The IAEA's site specific safeguards approach will be based on the design information and the as-built information declared by the national or regional authority. The site specific safeguards approach should be documented and a facility attachment to the subsidiary agreements to the safeguards agreement with the IAEA needs to be negotiated between the IAEA and the national or regional authority.

The installation of the safeguards equipment is of necessity a joint undertaking. While the IAEA generally provides the equipment, in some cases, the IAEA can take advantage of facility equipment. In this case, the IAEA authenticates that falsified data produced by the facility's equipment is detected. The location of the equipment is mutually agreed by the IAEA, the State/regional authority and the facility operator. For safety reasons, the IAEA does not install its equipment, but rather observes installation of the equipment by facility personnel, verifies its satisfactory location, installation and operation, and secures the equipment against tampering. During the pre-operational period, the IAEA might wish to use installed equipment (for example, passive seismic monitors) to independently verify design information and to establish baseline values against which subsequent values would be compared.

When the operational phase begins, the facility will have a zero nuclear material inventory and comply with the design information submitted during the pre-operational phase. When the facility starts receiving packages, IAEA activities will verify declarations by the State or regional authority on changes to the nuclear material inventory and will continue to verify the design of the facility. These activities will include reviewing records, downloading data from IAEA equipment, observing facility operations, verifying nuclear material items in interim storage, and maintaining IAEA equipment. As necessary, IAEA equipment will be replaced and reinstalled.

The post-closure phase will begin when the repository access ways have been backfilled, permanently closed and sealed⁴. Some national programmes may choose to begin the post-closure phase with a period of institutional control. With or without such a period, safeguards monitoring and surveillance are expected to be maintained for as long as the safeguards agreement is in force and future generations consider it beneficial. The IAEA, in consultation with the State or regional authority, may conduct site visits during the post-closure period to supplement its knowledge gained from other monitoring activities or to address anomalies identified by satellite or geophysical monitoring techniques.

5. TECHNOLOGICAL IMPLICATIONS OF SAFEGUARDS REQUIREMENTS

The following discussion is based on the reference repository concept briefly described in Section 3 and the safeguards measures expected to be implemented at a geological repository described in Section 4. The potential impacts of these measures on geological repository operations and safety and design changes that could reduce the impacts are outlined in Table 2. This table describes the impacts and technological implications of the safeguards requirements during each specific repository activity. It identifies the safeguards measures proposed in the generic safeguards approach and potential measures that the IAEA would need to implement if the implementation of those measures was not successful (for example, the failure of an IAEA instrument) and the potential operational impacts of both. The generic safeguards measures were developed in coordination with the repository developers, and the implementation of the site specific measures would be performed in coordination with and with the approval of the repository operator.

⁴ The term 'sealed' in this context refers to the final closure of the repository and does not suggest that the repository openings will have 'safeguards seals' applied.

Repository activity	Safeguards measures	Impact of applying safeguards measures	Remedial safeguards measures, if primary was not successful	Impact of applying remedial safeguards measures
Site characterization and repository design.	Review site characterization information and repository design for developing specific safeguards activities for monitoring waste/spent fuel transfer, storage and emplacement.	Prepare, review, submit and discuss documents. Alter design to facilitate safeguards implementation.	Review additional site characterization and repository design information.	Prepare additional documents. Potential delays of future operations.
Repository construction.	Verify that the as-built facility is in agreement with declared repository design information. Install and calibrate IAEA safeguards equipment (including geophysical monitors) above ground.	Support IAEA activities (e.g. escorting, sealing, or maintaining or using IAEA equipment). Review safety of and, if acceptable, install IAEA equipment mountings and cabling.	Use alternative safeguards measures and resolve inconsistencies.	Support additional IAEA activities. Potential delays of future operations.
Waste/spent fuel receipt.	Verify that continuity of knowledge on the quantity of nuclear material in the package is maintained by safeguards seals and container integrity verification.	Support IAEA activities (e.g. escorting, sealing, or maintaining or using IAEA equipment). Interrupt operations during IAEA presence, if necessary.	Re-establish continuity of knowledge by, e.g. gamma ray and/or neutron measurement.	Support additional IAEA activities. Potential interruption of operations.
Temporary storage of waste/spent fuel packages.	Maintain continuity of knowledge of the quantity of nuclear material in the package through cameras, safeguards seals, container integrity verification and radiation monitors.	Support IAEA activities (e.g. escorting, sealing, or maintaining or using IAEA equipment). Interrupt operations during IAEA presence, if necessary.	Re-establish continuity of knowledge by, for example, gamma ray and/or neutron measurement.	Support additional IAEA activities. Potential delay of operations.

TABLE 2. TECHNOLOGICAL IMPLICATIONS OF APPLYING SAFEGUARDS MEASURES TO ACTIVITIES IN A GEOLOGICAL REPOSITORY

TABLE 2. TECHNOLOGICAL IMPLICATIONS OF APPLYING SAFEGUARDS MEASURES TO ACTIVITIES IN A GEOLOGICAL REPOSITORY (cont.)

Repository activity	Safeguards measures	Impact of applying safeguards measures	Remedial safeguards measures, if primary was not successful	Impact of applying remedial safeguards measures
Waste/spent fuel transfer to underground.	Verify transfer of the package through cameras, safeguards seals, container integrity verification, and radiation monitors. Verify that no nuclear materials are removed by interfaced radiation monitoring and cameras.	Support IAEA activities (e.g. escorting, sealing, or maintaining or using IAEA equipment).	Use alternative safeguards measures and resolve inconsistencies.	Support additional IAEA activities. Potential interruption of operations until verification capability reestablished.
Underground operations.	Verify that operations are consistent with declarations by observation and location specific environmental sampling.	Prepare, review, submit, and discuss documents. Support IAEA activities (e.g. escorting, sealing, or maintaining or using IAEA equipment).	Use alternative safeguards measures and resolve inconsistencies.	Support additional IAEA activities. Potential interruption of operations until verification capability reestablished.
Material/personnel transport to underground.	Verify that no nuclear material is removed by interfacing radiation monitoring and cameras.	Support IAEA activities (e.g. escorting, sealing, or maintaining or using IAEA equipment).	Use alternative safeguards measures and resolve inconsistencies.	Support additional IAEA activities. Potential interruption of operations until verification capability is reestablished.
Ventilation through shaft.	Verify that no nuclear material is removed through the shaft by seals on the vent housing, or, if necessary, by interfaced radiation monitoring and cameras. Verify absence of underground reprocessing by continuous air monitoring.	Support IAEA activities (e.g. escorting, sealing, or maintaining or using IAEA equipment). Interrupt operations while awaiting IAEA presence, if necessary.	Use alternative safeguards measures and resolve inconsistencies.	Support additional IAEA activities. Potential interruption of operations until verification capability reestablished.
Backfilling and sealing.	Verify, by observation, that status is consistent with declarations.	Prepare, review, submit, and discuss documents. Support IAEA activities (e.g. escorting, sealing, or maintaining or using IAEA equipment).	Use alternative safeguards measures and resolve inconsistencies.	Prepare additional documents. Support additional IAEA activities.

Impact of applying remedial safeguards measures	Support IAEA activities (e.g. escorting, sealing, or maintaining or using IAEA equipment).	Prepare additional documents. Support additional IAEA activities.	
Remedial safeguards measures, if primary was not successful	Reestablish continuity of knowledge by re-verifying package contents .	Use alternative safeguards measures and resolve inconsistencies.	
Impact of applying safeguards measures	Prepare, review, submit, and discuss documents. Support IAEA activities (e.g. escorting, sealing, or maintaining or using IAEA equipment).	Prepare, review, submit, and discuss documents. Support IAEA activities (e.g. escorting, sealing, or maintaining or using IAEA equipment). No facility operator; State or regional authority would support IAEA activities	(e.g. escorting, sealing, or maintaining or using IAEA equipment). Long term management of repository knowledge.
Safeguards measures	Maintain continuity of knowledge by applying safeguards seals until the package contents can be re-verified.	Verify that closure is consistent with declarations. Remote surveillance and geophysical monitoring.	
Repository activity	Waste/spent fuel package retrieval.	Repository closure. Post-closure site controls.	

TABLE 2. TECHNOLOGICAL IMPLICATIONS OF APPLYING SAFEGUARDS MEASURES TO ACTIVITIES IN A GEOLOGICAL REPOSITORY (cont.)

In September 2002, an Expert Group Meeting was held to identify and correlate the potential monitoring activities that would be carried out in relation to geological repositories [21]. The focus was to identify the monitoring activities, foreseen by the repository operator and the Member State that could also be utilized for IAEA safeguards purposes. The evaluation identified many parameters that could be monitored for safeguards reasons and would probably also be monitored by the operator or the Member State for other purposes (for example, operational safety, performance confirmation, quality assurance, physical protection, and material control and accounting). Many monitoring needs were identified by different organizations in both pre-operational and operational phases of the repository. However, for the post-closure phase, the monitoring needs were primarily those of IAEA safeguards.

There is general agreement within the international nuclear safety community that geological repositories should not need active institutional control (monitoring) to provide adequate safety in the post-closure phase. Annex 1 details information provided in Table 2, based on the discussion and output of the Expert Group Meeting and underlies the implication for the repository operator.

5.1. PRE-OPERATIONAL PHASE

Many of the technological implications relevant to a geological repository during the pre-operational phase are similar to those for other nuclear facilities. These include the exchange of information and its examination, verification of design information through discussions and facility visits, satellite imagery, discussion of the proposed site specific safeguards approach, and installation of safeguards equipment, including geophysical monitoring devices. The safeguards measures for a geological repository differ from those implemented at conventional surface facilities. The impacts on the facility operator result from the requirement to compile and provide information and documents to the IAEA. In addition, the operator needs to examine information provided by the IAEA to facilitate the installation of IAEA equipment, provide access to safeguards relevant facility areas, and provide logistical and technical support. These actions are conducted by the operator through discussions, in cooperation with the State or regional authorities and the IAEA.

5.2. OPERATIONAL PHASE

Regarding the surface activities connected to the geological repository, the situation is quite similar to the preoperational phase in terms of technological implications. Because underground safeguards measures under the generic safeguards approach are limited to DIV (e.g. visual observation and transportable geophysical monitoring techniques), the technological implications in the underground part of a geological repository are substantially less than those for the above ground part or for other nuclear facilities. The safeguards measures for the surface package handling facilities are nuclear material accountancy measures and C/S (e.g. item identification, safeguards seals, package integrity verification, cameras, radiation monitors, and neutron and gamma ray measurements). Other surface applied safeguards measures are those to verify that nuclear material us not removed from the repository (e.g. safeguards seals on vent shaft housing, radiation monitoring and surveillance of materials/personnel transport shafts and ramps, geophysical monitoring, and continuous air monitoring of exhaust air).

The impacts on the facility operator with respect to surface material handling activities result from the requirement to record and report on package receipts, storage, transport, and other safeguards relevant operations; provide access (and necessary escorts) to the package storage and handling areas, shafts and ramps; and provide logistical and technical support related to operation and maintenance of IAEA equipment.

The impacts on the facility operator with respect to emplacement activities result from requirements to provide access (and necessary escorts) to the emplacement area and provide logistical and technical support related to the operation of IAEA equipment.

The impacts on the facility operator with respect to the option of retrieving waste/spent fuel packages result from the requirements to record and report on package removals, storage, transport and other safeguards relevant operations. The operator should provide logistical and technical support to facilitate the application of appropriate C/S measures and the timely re-verification of the package. The impacts on the facility operator with respect to backfilling and closure activities result from requirements to provide access (and necessary escorts) to the relevant underground areas, shafts, and ramps.

5.3. POST-CLOSURE PHASE

During the post-closure phase, there will be no facility operator and the country is expected to assume responsibility for the repository site. Therefore, any technological implications arising during this phase will be referred to the State, or its representative.

6. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

The possible technological implications of IAEA safeguards on the various phases of the life cycle of a generic geological repository containing spent nuclear fuel and nuclear material waste subject to IAEA safeguards have been considered. During design and construction of the repository, the safeguards approach calls for design information verification of the surface buildings and of the as-built information of the excavated subsurface areas to ensure the absence of any safeguards relevant undeclared activities. The safeguards approach recognizes that the repository design is likely to be modified as site characterization progresses and that construction may also be undertaken in parallel to the package emplacement operations. The synergy of various monitoring programmes used in the design and operation of the repository planning and design from the outset of a project to facilitate installation of IAEA equipment and to ensure that safeguards measures do not unduly disturb facility operations.

Based on the considerations of this report, it was concluded that, with appropriate advance planning, the operational and safety impacts of applying routine traditional IAEA safeguards in a geological repository is no greater or more technically challenging than those affecting other types of nuclear facility. In addition, no impacts were identified that would require changes in design or would compromise safety. The safeguards approach was developed with significant input from repository designers and safety experts. These interactions demonstrated the value of early and close cooperation between the disciplines. Minimizing the risk of loss of continuity of knowledge is a must, should it be only from the technological viewpoint. Therefore, the robustness of a safeguards approach developed and implemented site specifically must be ensured. The reliability of the techniques and procedures should be proven in site specific situations.

A prerequisite for ensuring that all stakeholders are aware of both safety and safeguards requirements, can plan their activities accordingly, and can avoid conflicts, is the early establishment of appropriate and effective communication channels. All stakeholders (these may include the construction company, future operator, State/regional authorities, and the IAEA) should be encouraged to develop an integrated plan that identifies both complementary and, if any, conflicting activities. The experience of some countries engaged in the preliminary design of geological repositories confirms the value in establishing baseline knowledge and using this as a means for coordinating the wide range of activities.

It is recommended that where appropriate, the country, operator and safeguards authorities establish a framework that promotes a culture of information exchange from the earliest stage of the repository lifetime.

Safeguards approaches that integrate the traditional safeguards measures with information analysis and complementary access to related safeguards relevant locations in the State are currently being developed by the IAEA. The integration of the measures seeks to enhance the effectiveness and efficiency of IAEA safeguards implementation. Any identified technological implications of the generic traditional safeguards approach for geological repositories will likely cover the potential implications of an integrated approach on a repository. However, if the integrated safeguards approach for geological repositories should include measures not discussed in this report, the technological implications would have to be adjusted accordingly and an updated report issued.

REFERENCES

- [1] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, "Interface issues between nuclear safeguards and radioactive waste management", Issues in Radioactive Waste Disposal, IAEA-TECDOC-909, Chapter 4, IAEA, Vienna (1996).
- [2] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safeguards Related to Final Disposal of Nuclear Material in Waste and Spent Fuel (AGM-660) (Proc. Advisory Group Meeting Vienna, 1988), Rep. STR-243 (Rev.), IAEA, Vienna (1988).
- [3] REMAGEN, H.H., RICHTER, B., RUDOLF, K., Reference Concept for Nuclear Materials Safeguards in a Geological Repository for Spent Nuclear Fuel, German Support Programme, BMBF/IAEA Report 205, KFA-Juelich (1993).
- [4] RICHTER, B., International nuclear material safeguards for the direct final disposal of spent-fuel assemblies, Nucl. Technol. 121 (1998) 162.
- [5] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safeguards for the Final Disposal of Spent Fuel in Geological Repositories, Rep. STR-312, IAEA, Vienna (1998).
- [6] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safeguards for Final Disposal of Spent Fuel in Geological Repositories (AGM-995) (Proc. Advisory Group Meeting, Vienna, 1997) Rep. STR-309, IAEA, Vienna (1997).
- [7] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Geological Disposal of Radioactive Waste, IAEA Safety Standards Series No. WS-R-4, IAEA, Vienna (2006).
- [8] Joint Convention on the Safety of Spent Fuel Management and on the Safety of Radioactive Waste Management, INFCIRC/546, IAEA, Vienna (1997).
- [9] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, The Principles of Radioactive Waste Management, Safety Series No. 111-F, IAEA, Vienna (1995).
- [10] FOOD AND AGRICULTURE ORGANIZATION OF THE UNITED NATIONS, INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, INTERNATIONAL LABOUR ORGANISATION, OECD NUCLEAR ENERGY AGENCY, PAN AMERICAN HEALTH ORGANIZATION, WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION, International Basic Safety Standards for Protection against Ionizing Radiation and for the Safety of Radiation Sources, Safety Series No. 115, IAEA, Vienna (1996).
- [11] The Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons, INFCIRC/140, IAEA, Vienna (1970).
- [12] The Structure and Contents of Agreements Between the Agency and States Required in Connection With the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons, INFCIRC/153 (Corrected), IAEA, Vienna (1972).
- [13] Model Protocol Additional to the Agreement(s) between States(s) and the International Atomic Energy Agency for the Application of Safeguards, INFCIRC/540, IAEA, Vienna (1997).
- [14] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, IAEA Safeguards Glossary, 2001 Edition, IAEA, Vienna (2002).
- [15] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Radioactive Waste Management Glossary, 2003 Edition, IAEA, Vienna (2003).
- [16] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Classification of Radioactive Waste, Safety Series No. 111-G-1.1, IAEA, Vienna (1994).
- [17] EUROPEAN COMMISSION, "Safety case for geological disposal of high-level radioactive waste Follow-up to the 'desk simulation' license application studies" (Proc. Workshop Mol, 1997), Rep. EUR-18187, EC, Brussels (1998).
- [18] OECD/NUCLEAR ENERGY AGENCY, Reversibility and Retrievability in Geologic Disposal of Radioactive Waste, OECD, Paris (2001).
- [19] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Retrievability of High Level Waste and Spent Nuclear Fuel, IAEA-TECDOC-1187, IAEA, Vienna (2000).
- [20] EUROPEAN COMMISSION, Concerted Action on the Retrievability of Long-lived Radioactive Waste in Deep Underground Repositories, Rep. EUR-19145, EC, Brussels (2000).
- [21] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Interface Issues and Interaction between Safeguards and Radioactive Waste Management in the Context of Geological Repositories (Proc. Experts Meeting Vienna, 2003), Rep. STR-338, IAEA, Vienna (2003).

Annex I

TECHNOLOGICAL IMPLICATIONS OF APPLYING SAFEGUARDS MEASURES IN A GEOLOGICAL REPOSITORY BASED ON SAFEGUARDS ACTIVITIES

Safeguards related activity	Safeguards reasons	IAEA 'tools' deployed	Activity location	Technological implication for repository operator
		Pre-operational phase		
Review activities aimed at site characterization and definition	Facilitate the design of site specific safeguards approach.	Open source information; Document reviews; Inspection.	IAEA HQ/on-site; IAEA HQ/on-site; On-site.	Provide design and construction documentation. Revise documents and plans as necessary to facilitate application of safeguards measures.
of basenine conditions. Acview the repository design, planned operating procedures, installed equipment, construction materials and activities.	Identification of inconsistencies in declarations that may indicate the intention to divert safeguarded material.	Document reviews; Satellite imagery; Aerial photography; Inspection; Geophysical measures.	IAEA HQ/on-site; Space; Aerial; On-site; Subsurface/surface	Provide support services, where necessary, to enable IAEA to undertake inspection of as-built facility. This may include office accommodation, equipment maintenance areas and utilities.
Confirm the absence of undeclared neighbouring underground constructions, cavities or features.	Detection of pre-existing structures or activities that potentially could facilitate undeclared access to repository.	Satellite imagery; Aerial photography; Inspection; Geophysical measures; Open source information.	Sace; Aerial; On-site; Surface/subsurface; IAEA HQ/on-site.	Provide support services, where necessary, to enable IAEA to undertake inspection of facility. This may include office accommodation, equipment maintenance areas and utilities.
Install safeguards equipment.	Prepare for safeguards monitoring activities.	Joint use operator/IAEA instrumentation; IAEA instrumentation.	On-site surface facilities; On-site surface facilities.	Provide support services during installation of cabling and data communications systems. Provision of power supplies.
Monitor all excavation activities.	Detection of the construction of additional access routes into or within repository and to verify the as-built design.	Satellite imagery; Aerial photography; Inspection; Geophysical monitoring.	Space; Aerial; On-site; Surface/subsurface.	Provide support to IAEA inspections of the facility. This may include provision of office accommodation, equipment maintenance areas and utilities.

Technological implication for repository operator	IAEA may employ operator's instrumentation to support safeguards activities. Separate signal cables may be required. Provision of instrument calibration and maintenance logs.		Provide support services, where necessary, to enable the IAEA to undertake inspection of the as-built facility. This may include office accommodation, equipment maintenance areas and utilities.	IAEA camera equipment may require artificial lighting. Provision of power supplies.	IAEA camera equipment may require artificial lighting. Provision of power supplies.	Provide support to IAEA inspections of the facility. This may include provision of office accommodation, equipment maintenance areas and utilities.	Provision of power supply. Ventilation equipment design to accommodate air sampling equipment.
Activity location	On-site; On-site; IAEA HQ.		IAEA HQ/on-site; Space; Aerial; On-site; Subsurface/surface.	Surface on-site; IAEA HQ/on-site; On-site.	On-site; Surface on-site/subsurface; Surface/subsurface; IAEA HQ.	Space; Aerial; On-site; Surface/subsurface.	On-site; Ventilation shafts; On-site.
IAEA 'tools' deployed	Instrument/signal authentication; Calibration checks; Trend analysis.	Operational phase	Document reviews; Satellite imagery; Aerial photography; Inspection; Geophysical measures.	Local camera surveillance; Open source information; Inspection.	Inspection; Camera surveillance; Location specific environmental sampling; Open source information.	Satellite imagery; Aerial photography; Inspection; Geophysical monitoring.	Environmental sampling; Air sampling; Inspection.
Safeguards reasons	Ensure the effective performance of operator and IAEA instrumentation.		Identification of inconsistencies in declarations that may indicate the intention to divert safeguarded material.	Detection of activities that potentially could support the diversion of safeguarded material through comparison of surveillance with operating records.	Identification of facilities and equipment that could support reprocessing activities.	Detection of the construction of additional access routes into or within repository and to verify the as-built design.	Detection of the undeclared opening of a package for the removal of safeguarded material and undeclared reprocessing activities.
Safeguards related activity	Monitor the effectiveness of installed instrumentation.			Review the repository design, planned operating procedures, installed equipment, construction materials and activities.		Monitor all excavation activities.	Monitor all subsurface radiological events.

Technological implication for repository operator	Provide support for confirmation of package identity. Design of the package receiving station may be adapted to accommodate readers, recorders and associated power supplies. Weighing equipment and recorders may be required too.	Receiving area to be equipped with shielded inspection area. Provision of power supply.	Provision of power supply.	IAEA camera equipment may require artificial lighting. Provision of power supply. Service shaft design to accommodate radiation detector and camera locations.	IAEA may employ operator's instrumentation to support safeguards activities. Separate signal cables may be required. Provision of instrument calibration and maintenance logs.		IAEA safeguards continue: No operator-State responsibility.
Activity location	Receiving area; IAEA HQ/ receiving area; On-site; Receiving area weighing equipme Unloading station	Receiving area.	Buffer store.	Transfer ramp; Ventilation shaft; On-site.	On-site; On-site; IAEA HQ.		Space; Aerial; On-site; Surface/subsurface; IAEA HQ.
IAEA 'tools' deployed	Item identification; Seal identification and verification; Local camera surveillance; Package weighing; Radiation monitoring.	Records review; Seal identification/verification; Cask integrity checks; Non-destructive assay; Radiation 'fingerprint'.	Records review; Seal identification/verification; Camera surveillance; Cask integrity checks; Environmental sampling.	Camera surveillance; Radiation monitoring; Seal identification/verification.	Instrument/signal authentication; Calibration checks; Trend analysis.	Post-closure phase	Satellite imagery; Aerial surveillance; Inspection; Geophysical monitoring; Open source information.
Safeguards reasons	Detection of the undeclared exchange of a waste package containing spent fuel with a waste package containing items of lesser or no safeguards significance.	Detection of the undeclared removal of spent fuel during shipment, partially loaded container or inaccurate declaration.	Detection of the undeclared removal of spent fuel from a package in buffer store.	Detection of the undeclared removal of spent fuel from underground areas through personnel and materials, shafts/ramps and ventilation shafts.	Ensure the effective performance of the operator and IAEA instrumentation.		Detection of the construction of new access routes into repository.
Safeguards related activity	Confirm waste/spent fuel package management activities.		Confirm the absence of activities and equipment that may relate to the undeclared removal of spent fuel from a package.		Monitor the effectiveness of installed instrumentation.		Monitor all activities that may relate to undeclared activities.

CONTRIBUTORS TO DRAFTING AND REVIEW

Barlow, S.	United Kingdom Nirex Ltd, United Kingdom
Bollingerfehr, W.	DBE Technology GmbH, Germany
Button, P.	Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission, Canada
Dahlin, G.	Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate, Sweden
Diaz-Mosquera, A.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Diaz-Menen, M.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Dionisio de Barros, P.	Comissão Nacional de Energia Nuclear, Brazil
Erastov, A.	Permanent Mission of the Russian Federation to the IAEA
Fagerholm, R.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Gera, F.	Private consultant, Italy
Grahn, P.H.	Swedish Nuclear Fuel and Waste Management Company, Sweden
Hilden, W.	European Commission
Hossain, S.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Kranz, H.	Federal Office for Radiation Protection, Germany
Metcalf, P.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Moran, B.	Nuclear Regulatory Commission, United States of America
Neerdael, B.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Okko, O.	Radiation and Nuclear Safety Authority, Finland
Potier, JM.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Richter, B.	Juelich Research Centre, Germany
Robeyns, G.	Federal Agency for Nuclear Control, Belgium
Rowat, J.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Stepanek, T.	State Office for Nuclear Safety, Czech Republic
Toverud, O.	Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate, Sweden

Upshall, I.

Van der Meer, K.

United Kingdom Nirex Ltd, United Kingdom

SCK-CEN, Belgium

Consultants Meetings

Vienna, Austria: 11-13 December 2002; Vienna, Austria: 12-16 May 2003

Technical Meeting

Vienna, Austria: 19-23 April 2004

and Decommissioning Objectives NW-O **Radioactive Waste Management** 2. Decommissioning of Nuclear Facilities NW-G-2.# 1. Radioactive Waste Management 3. Site Remediation Nuclear General (NG), Guide, Nuclear Infrastructure and Planning (topic 3), #1 Nuclear Fuel (NF), Report (T), Spent Fuel Management and Reprocessing, #6 NW-G-3.# NW-T-3.# NW-T-2.# NW-G-1.# NW-T-1.# Radioactive Waste Management and Decommissioning (NW), Guide, Radioactive Waste (topic 1), #1 Nuclear Power (NP), Report (T), Research Reactors (topic 5), #4 3. Spent Fuel Management and Reprocessing 5. Research Reactors — Nuclear Fuel Cycle 2. Fuel Engineering and Performance Nuclear Fuel Cycle Objectives Structure of the IAEA Nuclear Energy Series 4. Fuel Cycles NF-G-4.# NF-T-4.# 1. Resources NF-G-1.# NF-T-1.# NF-G-5.# NF-G-2.# NF-G-3.# NF-T-3.# NF-T-2.# NF-T-5.# NF-O Nuclear Energy Basic Principles NE-BP 2. Design and Construction of Nuclear Power Plants NW-G-1.1: NG-G-3.1: 3. Operation of Nuclear Power Plants NP-G-3.# Examples NP-T-5.4: NF-T-3.6: 4. Non-Electrical Applications Nuclear Power Objectives 1. Technology Development 5. Research Reactors NP-G-1 # NP-T-1 # NP-G-2.# NP-T-3.# NP-G-4.# NP-G-5.# NP-T-5.# NP-T-4.# NP-T-2.# NP-O Topic designations Guide or Report number (1, 2, 3, 4, etc.) 3. Nuclear Infrastructure and Planning NG-G-3.# Nuclear General Objectives 6. Knowledge Management 5. Energy System Analysis NG-G-5.# 1. Management Systems Technical Reports 2. Human Resources **Basic Principles** 4. Economics NG-G-4.# NG-T-4.# NG-G-1.# NG-T-1.# NG-G-6.# NG-T-6.# NG-G-2.# NG-T-3.# NG-T-5.# NG-T-2.# 0-9N Objectives Guides Nos. 1-6: #: Key **BP:** öö∺



Where to order IAEA publications

In the following countries IAEA publications may be purchased from the sources listed below, or from major local booksellers. Payment may be made in local currency or with UNESCO coupons.

AUSTRALIA

DA Information Services, 648 Whitehorse Road, MITCHAM 3132 Telephone: +61 3 9210 7777 • Fax: +61 3 9210 7788 Email: service@dadirect.com.au • Web site: http://www.dadirect.com.au

BELGIUM

Jean de Lannoy, avenue du Roi 202, B-1190 Brussels Telephone: +32 2 538 43 08 • Fax: +32 2 538 08 41 Email: jean.de.lannoy@infoboard.be • Web site: http://www.jean-de-lannoy.be

CANADA

Bernan Associates, 4501 Forbes Blvd, Suite 200, Lanham, MD 20706-4346, USA Telephone: 1-800-865-3457 • Fax: 1-800-865-3450 Email: customercare@bernan.com • Web site: http://www.bernan.com

Renouf Publishing Company Ltd., 1-5369 Canotek Rd., Ottawa, Ontario, K1J 9J3 Telephone: +613 745 2665 • Fax: +613 745 7660 Email: order.dept@renoufbooks.com • Web site: http://www.renoufbooks.com

CHINA

IAEA Publications in Chinese: China Nuclear Energy Industry Corporation, Translation Section, P.O. Box 2103, Beijing

CZECH REPUBLIC

Suweco CZ, S.R.O., Klecakova 347, 180 21 Praha 9 Telephone: +420 26603 5364 • Fax: +420 28482 1646 Email: nakup@suweco.cz • Web site: http://www.suweco.cz

FINLAND

Akateeminen Kirjakauppa, PO BOX 128 (Keskuskatu 1), FIN-00101 Helsinki Telephone: +358 9 121 41 • Fax: +358 9 121 4450 Email: akatilaus@akateeminen.com • Web site: http://www.akateeminen.com

FRANCE

Form-Edit, 5, rue Janssen, P.O. Box 25, F-75921 Paris Cedex 19 Telephone: +33 1 42 01 49 49 • Fax: +33 1 42 01 90 90 Email: formedit@formedit.fr • Web site: http://www. formedit.fr

Lavoisier SAS, 145 rue de Provigny, 94236 Cachan Cedex Telephone: + 33 1 47 40 67 02 • Fax +33 1 47 40 67 02 Email: romuald.verrier@lavoisier.fr • Web site: http://www.lavoisier.fr

GERMANY

UNO-Verlag, Vertriebs- und Verlags GmbH, Am Hofgarten 10, D-53113 Bonn Telephone: + 49 228 94 90 20 • Fax: +49 228 94 90 20 or +49 228 94 90 222 Email: bestellung@uno-verlag.de • Web site: http://www.uno-verlag.de

HUNGARY

Librotrade Ltd., Book Import, P.O. Box 126, H-1656 Budapest Telephone: +36 1 257 7777 • Fax: +36 1 257 7472 • Email: books@librotrade.hu

INDIA

Allied Publishers Group, 1st Floor, Dubash House, 15, J. N. Heredia Marg, Ballard Estate, Mumbai 400 001, Telephone: +91 22 22617926/27 • Fax: +91 22 22617928 Email: alliedpl@vsnl.com • Web site: http://www.alliedpublishers.com

Bookwell, 2/72, Nirankari Colony, Delhi 110009 Telephone: +91 11 23268786, +91 11 23257264 • Fax: +91 11 23281315 Email: bookwell@vsnl.net

ITALY

Libreria Scientifica Dott. Lucio di Biasio "AEIOU", Via Coronelli 6, I-20146 Milan Telephone: +39 02 48 95 45 52 or 48 95 45 62 • Fax: +39 02 48 95 45 48 Email: info@libreriaaeiou.eu • Website: www.libreriaaeiou.eu

JAPAN

Maruzen Company, Ltd., 13-6 Nihonbashi, 3 chome, Chuo-ku, Tokyo 103-0027 Telephone: +81 3 3275 8582 • Fax: +81 3 3275 9072 Email: journal@maruzen.co.jp • Web site: http://www.maruzen.co.jp

REPUBLIC OF KOREA

KINS Inc., Information Business Dept. Samho Bldg. 2nd Floor, 275-1 Yang Jae-dong SeoCho-G, Seoul 137-130 Telephone: +02 589 1740 • Fax: +02 589 1746 • Web site: http://www.kins.re.kr

NETHERLANDS

De Lindeboom Internationale Publicaties B.V., M.A. de Ruyterstraat 20A, NL-7482 BZ Haaksbergen Telephone: +31 (0) 53 5740004 • Fax: +31 (0) 53 5729296 Email: books@delindeboom.com • Web site: http://www.delindeboom.com

Martinus Nijhoff International, Koraalrood 50, P.O. Box 1853, 2700 CZ Zoetermeer Telephone: +31 793 684 400 • Fax: +31 793 615 698 Email: info@nijhoff.nl • Web site: http://www.nijhoff.nl

Swets and Zeitlinger b.v., P.O. Box 830, 2160 SZ Lisse Telephone: +31 252 435 111 • Fax: +31 252 415 888 Email: infoho@swets.nl • Web site: http://www.swets.nl

NEW ZEALAND

DA Information Services, 648 Whitehorse Road, MITCHAM 3132, Australia Telephone: +61 3 9210 7777 • Fax: +61 3 9210 7788 Email: service@dadirect.com.au • Web site: http://www.dadirect.com.au

SLOVENIA

Cankarjeva Zalozba d.d., Kopitarjeva 2, SI-1512 Ljubljana Telephone: +386 1 432 31 44 • Fax: +386 1 230 14 35 Email: import.books@cankarjeva-z.si • Web site: http://www.cankarjeva-z.si/uvoz

SPAIN

Díaz de Santos, S.A., c/ Juan Bravo, 3A, E-28006 Madrid Telephone: +34 91 781 94 80 • Fax: +34 91 575 55 63 Email: compras@diazdesantos.es, carmela@diazdesantos.es, barcelona@diazdesantos.es, julio@diazdesantos.es Web site: http://www.diazdesantos.es

UNITED KINGDOM

The Stationery Office Ltd, International Sales Agency, PO Box 29, Norwich, NR3 1 GN Telephone (orders): +44 870 600 5552 • (enquiries): +44 207 873 8372 • Fax: +44 207 873 8203 Email (orders): book.orders@tso.co.uk • (enquiries): book.enquiries@tso.co.uk • Web site: http://www.tso.co.uk

On-line orders

DELTA Int. Book Wholesalers Ltd., 39 Alexandra Road, Addlestone, Surrey, KT15 2PQ Email: info@profbooks.com • Web site: http://www.profbooks.com

Books on the Environment Earthprint Ltd., P.O. Box 119, Stevenage SG1 4TP Telephone: +44 1438748111 • Fax: +44 1438748844 Email: orders@earthprint.com • Web site: http://www.earthprint.com

UNITED NATIONS

Dept. 1004, Room DC2-0853, First Avenue at 46th Street, New York, N.Y. 10017, USA (UN) Telephone: +800 253-9646 or +212 963-8302 • Fax: +212 963-3489 Email: publications@un.org • Web site: http://www.un.org

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Bernan Associates, 4501 Forbes Blvd., Suite 200, Lanham, MD 20706-4346 Telephone: 1-800-865-3457 • Fax: 1-800-865-3450 Email: customercare@bernan.com · Web site: http://www.bernan.com

Renouf Publishing Company Ltd., 812 Proctor Ave., Ogdensburg, NY, 13669 Telephone: +888 551 7470 (toll-free) • Fax: +888 568 8546 (toll-free) Email: order.dept@renoufbooks.com • Web site: http://www.renoufbooks.com

Orders and requests for information may also be addressed directly to:

Marketing and Sales Unit, International Atomic Energy Agency

Vienna International Centre, PO Box 100, 1400 Vienna, Austria Telephone: +43 1 2600 22529 (or 22530) • Fax: +43 1 2600 29302 Email: sales.publications@iaea.org • Web site: http://www.iaea.org/books

INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY VIENNA ISBN 978-92-0-106809-5 ISSN 1995-7807